1949

John D. Marshall v. The Ogden Union Railway and Depot Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The parties will be designated as in the trial court.

All italics are ours.

All record citations of testimony refer to the second trial transcript unless otherwise designated.

John D. Marshall, an employee of the Southern Pacific Railroad Company, was injured in defendant's passenger depot at Ogden, Weber County, Utah, at

approximately 9:00 o'clock a.m., on the 19th day of June, 1947, while in the course of his employment as a chair car porter for the Southern Pacific Railroad Company.

This action was commenced in the Second Judicial District, in and for Weber County, State of Utah, on March 1st, 1948. The case was first tried before the Honorable John A. Hendricks on the 1st and 2nd days of July, 1948, the jury returning a verdict in the sum of \$8,500.00, in favor of the plaintiff. Defendant filed a motion for new trial and said Judge, after the motion had been argued by respective counsel, entered an order granting said motion. (R. 038).

The case was tried a second time before the Honorable L. Leland Larson, on the 23rd and 24th days of February, 1949, the jury returning a verdict of No Cause for Action in favor of the defendant and against the plaintiff. Thereafter plaintiff moved for a new trial and plaintiff's motion was on the 22nd day of April, 1949, denied by said judge (R. 144).

Plaintiff hereby appeals from the order of Judge Hendricks granting defendant's motion for a new trial and also from certain errors committed by the Honorable L. Leland Larson, Judge, during the progress of the second trial of the case.

The facts as herein set forth and discussed are those presented at the second trial. They are substantially the same as were presented at the first trial.

B. THE FACTS

John D. Marshall, a resident of San Francisco, California, was injured at approximately 9:00 o'clock a.m., on the 19th day of June, 1947 at the Depot of the defendant company in Ogden, Utah, while in the course of his employment as a chair car porter for the Southern Pacific Railroad Company. At the time of his injuries he was 30 years of age. He had been employed by the Southern Pacific Railroad Company approximately five years, during which time he had worked as a chair car porter (R. 6). His duties as a chair car porter were generally assisting passengers on and off trains, handling luggage and keeping the car, to which he was assigned, clean (R. 6). Prior to his employment with the Southern Pacific Railroad Company plaintiff had worked at various odd jobs, all involving general manual labor (R. 6, 7). During the month of June, 1947, and when injured, plaintiff was working on trains operating between Oakland, California and Ogden, Utah (R. 7, 8).

The tracks in the Ogden Union Depot extend in a general northerly-southerly direction. Track No. 7 is immediately to the east of Track No. 8, etc. Passengers approaching trains on said tracks pass through an underpath rampway onto the platforms between the tracks and usually proceed north to where the passenger trains are stationed (R. 8). Between Tracks No. 7 and No. 8 is a cement platform approximately 18 feet in width. Extending down the center of the platform are certain posts known as "umbrella posts" which support a can-

opy over the platform for protection in inclement weather (R. 9).

At its depot in Ogden the defendant customarily uses four-wheeled trucks in handling freight. These trucks were described by plaintiff as being approximately six or eight feet in length, three feet in width, two and one-half or three feet in height. They have four metal wheels and a tongue in front which can be attached to a small three-wheeled jitney used in pulling them from place to place within the depot (R. 10). Plaintiff's Exhibit "A" is a photograph of such a truck and jitney.

On the morning he was injured plaintiff approached his train at approximately 8:30 o'clock a.m. At that time the train was on Track No. 8, facing north and plaintiff's chair car was four or five cars south of the head end of of the train.

One of the umbrella posts was south of the north entrance to plaintiff's chair car. Standing with its south end against the post and on a slight northwest diagonal was one of the four-wheeled trucks heretofore described. The distance between the side of the chair car and the umbrella post was nine feet as measured by the plaintiff shortly before the second trial (R. 22). The truck's width was approximately three feet. Therefore, there was at least seven or eight feet of space between the east side of the coach and the truck within which a vehicle could pass.

As to the occurrence of the accident, there is a sharp dispute in the testimony. For the convenience of the

court we present herewith the various versions as related by the respective witnesses.

Marshall testified that he approached his car, checked to see if it was clean, placed the step box down next to the north entrance to his chair car and took a position eight or ten inches south of the step box, with his back to the east side of the car. He testified that he was at all times before the accident looking toward the south for two small unescorted boys who were to ride in his car that morning (R. 11-14); and that the first time he saw the jitney and four-wheeled truck was when Miller, the operator, drove past him (R. 15); that as the jitney went past him he stepped back against the side of his chair car; that the truck being drawn by the jitney was carrying several trash boxes (R. 22).

He further testified that at the time the jitney drove past him it was proceeding faster than a person could walk (R. 23), and that after the truck struck him he fell to the platform (R. 20). Marshall's testimony regarding the occurrence of the accident is as follows (R. 14):

“Q. All right. I want you to now relate to the jury just *a little* what happened.

A. I was standing there waiting for these two little kids, and when I know anything, this jitney came by and I stepped back. It was too late for me to go anyway but that. The truck Mr. Miller was hauling hit the corner of the other truck and it hit me here (indicating), and put me against the train here (indicating).

Q. At the time you first realized that the jitney tractor was traveling along the platform, where was the front end of the tractor?

A. It was passed by.

Q. You became aware of its presence as it passed by?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And at that time what did you do?

A. Stepped back."

Marshall testified clearly that there was plenty of room for the jitney and truck to have passed between him and the standing truck. His testimony in that regard is as follows (R. 30):

"Q. Mr. Marshall, one other matter; I want to ask you this question: Was there space enough between the sides of the cars located on track No. 8 and the protruding northwest corner of the standing four-wheel truck, was there space enough between there and between where your body was located and the northwest corner of the four-wheeled truck of the jitney and the other truck to have passed at the time this accident happened?

A. There was plenty of room."

And on cross-examination (R. 31):

"Q. Mr. Marshall, there was plenty of room if the trucks hadn't cornered?

A. Plenty of room, sir."

Hamilton, a brakeman for the Southern Pacific Railroad Company and the only disinterested witness, testified that he was checking the numbers of the cars when he observed Marshall standing a short distance south of the step box at the north entrance of his chair car and that Marshall appeared to be looking toward the south (R. 62); that he observed the jitney and truck proceeding in a southerly direction; that he looked away and was just going to take down the number of a coach when he heard something bang and saw Marshall fall (R. 63). He was unable to form an estimate as to the speed at which the jitney and truck were proceeding as he observed them traveling south and past the ladies coach. He testified in regard to the movement of the vehicle as follows (R. 67):

“Q. About how far was the jitney and the four-wheeled truck from the point of impact when you last saw it up there, before the impact?

A. I saw him coming by the baggage car, and after that I saw it coming by the ladies coach. I was checking there and I didn't notice it any more until it hit.

Q. About how long after you saw it by the ladies coach was it that you heard the impact?

A. Oh, about as fast as I could walk, about three miles an hour, maybe.”

This testimony clearly indicates that the tractor and four-wheeled truck did not stop in its progress toward the south before the actual impact. Hamilton saw Mar-

shall fall to the platform after he heard the bang occasioned by the impact (R. 63).

Hamilton was never asked whether or not there was sufficient and adequate space for the jitney and four-wheeled truck to have passed between where Marshall was standing and the truck located next to the umbrella post.

LeRoy Miller, who had been employed by defendant company for approximately four and one-half years and was the operator of the jitney and truck at the time of the accident, testified on behalf of defendant. He stated that he had been picking up rubbish boxes during the course of the morning; that immediately before the accident he was proceeding in a southerly direction along the platform and saw Marshall working near the coaches on Train No. 23; that Marshall was standing south of his foot box but that his foot box was opposite the south entrance to the ladies coach; that Marshall was "between the couplings" (R. 106). He testified that he stopped and told Marshall to "kinda step out" and that Marshall stepped back and he started forward, and that as he started forward Marshall was standing still; that the front corner of his truck struck the corner of the standing truck causing his truck to swing around and strike the car (R. 106). He testified that the jitney and truck was just barely moving at the time the accident occurred, but that nevertheless the truck slid sideways on its wheels across the platform and struck the side of the ladies chair car with a bang causing a dent in the car (R. 14-16).

He further stated that as he went around Marshall he started to pull out to keep from hitting Marshall and that he never did look at the truck to his left during the forward movement of the jitney and four-wheeled truck. His testimony in regard to his own conduct as he proceeded past Marshall is interesting and is set forth herein as follows (R. 116):

“Q. Weren’t you watching the car?

A. No, I was watching Marshall.

Q. Didn’t you ever watch the truck?

A. No, I never looked at the truck.

Q. You could see that car?

A. I didn’t pay any attention.

Q. You could have seen if you had looked?

A. I didn’t look at it. My wagon wasn’t two feet from that wagon, I came up to put the box on.

Q. If you had looked over to the east, you could have seen that car, couldn’t you?

A. I could have. There wasn’t nothing between me, but I wasn’t paying any attention.

Q. You thought you could get by Mr. Marshall?

A. I asked him to move his foot box and move to the east.

Q. He didn’t move, did he?

A. He says he had plenty of room, and I went on and caught the end of the wagon and it swung around and hit the car, and I asked him, did it hit you in the stomach?

Miller never testified directly as to whether or not there was sufficient and adequate space for him to have passed between Marshall and the standing truck in the middle of the platform next to the umbrella post. However, his proceeding as he did clearly indicates he was of the opinion that there was sufficient and adequate space. His testimony that he swung out without looking toward the east clearly indicates that his swinging out was the thing which caused the impact of the vehicles and the resulting accident (R. 116). The only inference that can be drawn from Miller's testimony is that there was actually sufficient space for him to have passed had he kept a lookout on both sides of his vehicle rather than on merely one.

Kenneth Malan, a car washer and witness called by defendant, testified that he was washing the head end of Train No. 23 at the time the accident took place; that he was about in the middle of Marshall's car (R. 92). He saw Marshall just before the accident standing just south of his step box which was located at the north entrance of his chair car. In this regard Malan clearly supports the testimony of Marshall and Hamilton. He further testified that Miller stopped two or three feet north of where Marshall was standing; that Miller and Marshall had a conversation and that thereafter the truck and trailer proceeded on to the south (R. 93, 94); that the moving truck struck the corner of the standing truck throwing the rear end of the moving truck on a diagonal to the west and toward Marshall (R. 95); that at the time of the accident the speed of the tractor was

approximately that of a man walking very slowly (R. 102). However, he admits that the truck skidded sideways across the platform and that the rear end of the truck struck either Marshall or the chair car (R. 95); that after the accident Marshall squeezed himself out from between the truck and the chair car, walked around and leaned on the wagon; that a brakeman walked over and asked Marshall how he felt and stated that he ought to go sit down and rest (R. 96, 97). Malan assumed that he was struck by the truck as he saw him double up, make his way over and lean against the other truck (R. 98).

Malan testified that after Miller started forward with the jitney and truck he, Malan, moved up against the car in anticipation of the movement of the vehicle past him. That that was the manner in which he always handled this situation; that he never stepped to the other side of the platform when a jitney and truck were proceeding past him (R. 101, 102). He felt there was plenty of room for the jitney and truck to move past if he stepped up beside the car (R. 101).

Louis Stegge also testified for defendant. He was by occupation a car man and at the time of the accident was working on a car to the north of where the accident occurred. He never was closer than twenty feet from where the accident occurred (R. 126). A reading of his testimony indicates that Stegge wasn't sure whether Marshall was standing south of the south entrance to the ladies car or south of the north entrance to Marshall's

chair car (R. 132, 133). It seems unbelievable that Marshall would have been standing at the south entrance of the ladies car inasmuch as he had no duties to perform with regard to the ladies car. Marshall testified that the south end of the ladies car was a blind end and that there were no entrances located there whatsoever (R. 135).

Stegge testified that Miller stopped a short distance north of where Marshall was standing; that a conversation occurred between Miller and Marshall; that he saw Marshall signify by movement of his hand to come ahead and that the jitney and truck proceeded ahead about four or five feet when the standing truck and the moving truck cornered causing the moving truck to swing diagonally to the west. He admitted that Marshall was standing still as the vehicles proceeded past him, with his back to the east side of the coach (R. 127). Stegge wasn't asked whether or not there was sufficient and adequate room for the jitney and truck to have passed between the standing truck and Marshall. Therefore, his testimony must be considered as neutral in this regard, casting no inferences one way or the other.

Plaintiff remained at the place where the accident happened for a short time and then made his way to the trainmaster's office (R. 21). Thereafter, he went to the office of the company doctor, which is located on Washington Boulevard, and from there was sent to St. Benedict's Hospital, where he remained for two days (R. 21). He then returned to Oakland by train, spent one night at home and the next day reported to

the Southern Pacific Hospital (R. 24). He was at the hospital continuously for approximately one week and thereafter remained as an out patient. The total period of his hospitalization at the Southern Pacific General Hospital was forty-four days (R. 25). During that period he was unable to work (R. 25, 26). In May of 1948 plaintiff was again hospitalized for a period of six days. He had mistakenly testified at the previous trial that he was hospitalized on this occasion for two weeks. During the six days of his hospitalization he underwent treatment and general observation. At the time of trial he was still experiencing pain in his back (R. 26-28).

Plaintiff was earning approximately \$218.00 per month at the time of his injury as a salary and in addition was making between \$15.00 and \$30.00 per month in tips (R. 29).

Doctor Fisher, a regularly licensed physician, and specialist in orthopedic surgery, testified by deposition on behalf of the plaintiff. He examined plaintiff on December 20, 1947. The examination revealed muscle spasm in the lower area of plaintiff's back and that he was suffering from sub-acute low back strain and a contusion of the lower abdomen together with a mild Schmorl's disease of the spine. Schmorl's disease is not caused by trauma, but prolongs the healing period (R. 83-84). His opinion was stated as follows (R. 84):

"A. Yes, I feel if you are going to get this man well, I don't think that he is going to get well probably unless he shifts to some type of work where he wouldn't have to do heavy

lifting for some considerable *period* of time, I would say at least six months and probably more, possibly more."

The jury was warranted in finding according to plaintiff's testimony that he was standing against his car and looking to the south; that Miller drove the jitney and truck to and beyond his position at an excessive rate of speed without keeping a lookout, cornered the standing vehicle and caused the accident. The jury was also warranted in finding from defendant's evidence that Miller approached Marshall and stopped; that a conversation occurred; that Marshall took a position back against the coach and that Miller proceeded beyond him, cornered with the standing vehicle causing the accident. It was uncontroverted that Marshall, after the vehicle had once started past him, never moved from the position he had taken and was at all times observed and observable by Miller. It is uncontroverted that the truck cornered with the standing truck, skidded sideways across the platform and toward and into the plaintiff. It is uncontroverted that Miller, as he proceeded past plaintiff, was not keeping any lookout whatsoever to the east but was looking solely in the direction of Marshall who was standing against the coach. It was uncontroverted that there was *plenty of room for the jitney and truck to have passed between the plaintiff and the standing truck had defendant operated the jitney and truck in an efficient manner*; that Marshall could have done

nothing further to avoid the accident once the jitney passed him, and that the cause of the accident was the cornering of the vehicles.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

1. The court erred in granting defendant's motion for new trial (R. 038).

2. The court erred in refusing to give Plaintiff's Requested Instruction No. 3 (second trial) (R. 042).

3. The court erred in giving Instruction No. 7 (second trial) (R. 063, 064).

4. The court erred in giving Instruction No. 11 (second trial) (R. 066).

5. The court erred in refusing to grant plaintiff's motion for a new trial following the second trial (R. 078).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I.

DEFENDANT FAILED TO SHOW DUE DILIGENCE IN DISCOVERING SO-CALLED NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE BEFORE AND DURING TRIAL AND INASMUCH AS SUCH NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE WAS FOR IMPEACHMENT PURPOSES ONLY AND DOES NOT APPEAR TO BE OF SUFFICIENT MATERIALITY TO HAVE AFFECTED THE VERDICT, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING A NEW TRIAL ON THAT BASIS. (Assignment of Error No. 1).

POINT II.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN GIVING INSTRUCTION NO. 7. (Assignment of Error No. 3).

POINT III.

THERE WAS NO EVIDENTIARY BASIS FOR THE SUBMISSION OF THE ISSUE OF PLAINTIFF'S CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE TO THE JURY. (Assignment of Errors No. 2, 3 and 5).

POINT IV.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO SUBMIT THE ISSUE OF LAST CLEAR CHANCE TO THE JURY. (Assignment of Errors No. 2 and 5).

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

DEFENDANT FAILED TO SHOW DUE DILIGENCE IN DISCOVERING SO-CALLED NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE BEFORE AND DURING TRIAL AND INASMUCH AS SUCH NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE WAS FOR IMPEACHMENT PURPOSES ONLY AND DOES NOT APPEAR TO BE OF SUFFICIENT MATERIALITY TO HAVE AFFECTED THE VERDICT, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING A NEW TRIAL ON THAT BASIS. (Assignment of Error No. 1).

We recognize the law to be well settled that the granting or denying of a motion for new trial is largely within the discretionary powers of the trial court. See

Moser v. Zion's Co-Op. Mercantile Inst. et al., (Utah) 197 P. 2d 136.

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