1949

John D. Marshall v. The Ogden Union Railway and Depot Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. The trial court exercised a sound and just discretion in granting defendant's motion for a new trial.

(a) The defendant was not guilty of "lack of due diligence" in failing to present the newly discovered evidence at the first trial;

(b) Such evidence was material and of such a nature as might change the outcome of the trial;

(c) Such evidence was not merely impeaching evidence but was substantive evidence upon a material issue in the case.

II. The court committed no prejudicial error in granting defendant's Requested Instruction No. 7 in view of the evidence in the case.

III. The evidence warranted the submission of the issue of the contributory negligence of the plaintiff to the jury.

IV. There was no basis in the pleadings or evidence warranting the submission of the case to the jury on the theory of last clear chance and no error was committed by the court in refusing plaintiff's Requested Instruction No. 3 thereon.

ARGUMENT

Point I

THE TRIAL COURT EXERCISED A SOUND AND JUST DISCRETION IN GRANTING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL.

(a) The defendant was not guilty of "lack of due diligence" in failing to present the newly discovered evidence prior to the trial.

It is a fact and the transcript of the proceedings at the first trial so show (R. 103), that on May 15, 1948, Mr. Bronson, counsel for the defendant, was present in the office of Mr. Clifton Hildebrand, an attorney in Oakland, California, and attended the taking of the deposition of one Dr. Lloyd D. Fisher. Dr. Fisher was a witness for the plaintiff and, as disclosed by the record, had examined the plaintiff the preceding December for the purpose of enabling him to testify. The deposition shows that the plaintiff was sent to Dr. Fisher by his Oakland attorneys; that Dr. Fisher did not examine him for the purpose of treating him, did not prescribe for or treat him, but saw him on one occasion on December 20, 1947 (R. 105, 110, 111). The affidavit of Mr. Bronson in support of the motion for a new trial (R. 153, 2nd Trial) set forth the fact that he had, as of May 15, 1948, fully investigated in San Francisco and found that there had been no hospitalization of the plaintiff since August of 1947. The record fully discloses that the plaintiff had not been hospitalized between the first part of August, 1947 and the 21st day of May, 1948—six days after defendant's counsel was in Oakland and San Francisco investigating the

facts of plaintiff's hospitalization. We would like at this point to call the court's attention to the fact that the case was then set for trial at Ogden, Utah, May 26, 1948. The plaintiff having worked continuously from the beginning of August, 1947 until May 15, 1948, the date defendant's counsel investigated the matter of plaintiff's hospitalization, and not having been hospitalized or received any medical treatment during that period of time, we submit that it was not reasonable for counsel to expect that between that date, viz, May 15, 1948, and the date of trial, May 26, 1948, the plaintiff would require hospitalization on account of his alleged injuries. The plaintiff went to the Southern Pacific Hospital in San Francisco complaining of his back six days after Mr. Bronson was in Oakland to take the aforesaid deposition and five days before the case was set for trial. In view of the distance between Salt Lake City and San Francisco, we think that we were diligently trying to properly take care of this lawsuit. We cannot, of course, discuss the merits of the conflicting affidavits filed by counsel for the plaintiff and defendant, plaintiff's counsel stating that he advised Mr. Bronson of the hospitalization of the plaintiff before trial, and defendant's counsel denying this. As plaintiff's counsel in his brief states, "It was within the discretion of the trial court to determine the facts as revealed by the affidavits."

At page 34 of appellant's brief counsel says: "If counsel considered the hospitalization issue to be so vital to his case why didn't he make a telephone call during or before the trial? Why didn't he bring this matter to the attention of the trial court? Why didn't he move for a continuance?

Why should plaintiff be saddled with the onerous burden of a new trial because of opposing counsel's inattention to his case?" The simple answer to this is that while counsel for the defendant was surprised at the plaintiff's testimony that he had been in the hospital flat on his back in bed for a period of two weeks between May 15th—the time counsel was in San Francisco—and July 1, the date of the trial, defendant's counsel did not know and had no reason to suspect that the plaintiff was falsifying about the matter. If we correctly understand plaintiff's counsel, he contends that this was inexcusable gullibility on the part of defendant's counsel; that defendant's counsel should have known or suspected the testimony was false, and should have made such an investigation in San Francisco, California before the close of the trial, which consumed less than two days, as would enable defendant's counsel to either prove the falsity of plaintiff's testimony or move the court for a continuance.

We invite the court's attention to the cases of *Rath v. Bankston*, 281 P. 1081, and *Pico v. Cohn*, 91 Cal. 129, 25 P. 970, cited and discussed by appellant's counsel at page 32 of their brief. These cases are cited in support of what seems to be an argument to the effect that a "litigant at the trial must be prepared to meet and expose perjury then and there." Counsel seems to advance the astounding proposition that perjury is permissible if you can get away with it, that is, if counsel on the other side does not catch you in it then and there, and be prepared to rise up and expose it, and that unless it is exposed at the trial in which it occurs the trial court must permit the verdict to stand even though it was secured or may have been secured by false testimony,

and that neither courts nor jurors nor litigants can find protection from such an injustice by way of a new trial. The cases above referred to and discussed on page 32 of appellant's brief are not only not in point but they do not hold what counsel says in his brief, at page 32, they stand for. In the *Rath* case, which was an action for damages for personal injuries, it had been testified that it was impossible to back a truck and trailer up to a certain curb. The trial was recessed and during the recess the plaintiff conducted an experiment with a truck and trailer similar to those involved in the accident and determined that it was possible to back the truck and trailer to the curb at the point in question. The next day the trial was resumed but the plaintiff *did not put on this contradictory evidence* although she had a full opportunity to do so. It was held that this was not newly discovered evidence entitling the plaintiff to a new trial after an adverse verdict, for the simple reason that the plaintiff had the evidence in her hands before the close of the trial and full opportunity to present it.

In the *Cohn* case, which appellant herein cites for the proposition which appellant himself italicizes as follows: "*A litigant at the trial must be prepared to meet and expose perjury then and there,*" suit was brought by way of collateral attack upon a decree which had been obtained by the prevailing party bribing a witness to perjure himself. The decree had become final following appeal to the Supreme Court of California. The following is what the court said and what it held:

"The trial is his (the litigant's) opportunity for making the truth appear. If, unfortunately, he fails,

being overborne by perjured testimony, and if he likewise *fails to show the injustice that has been done him, on motion for a new trial, and the judgment is affirmed on appeal*, he is without remedy. The wrong in such case, is, of course, a most grievous one, and no doubt the legislature and the courts would be glad to redress it if a rule could be devised that would remedy the evil without producing mischiefs far worse than the evil to be remedied. Endless litigation, in which nothing was ever finally determined, would be worse than occasional miscarriages of justice; and so the rule is that a *final judgment* cannot be annulled merely because it can be shown to have been based on perjured testimony; for, if this could be done once, it could be done again and again, *ad infinitum*."

We submit that these cases relied upon by plaintiff's counsel are not only not inconsistent with the position of the defendant in this case, but support defendant's position.

(b) That the true facts with relation to plaintiff's stay in the hospital as well as the time he was in the hospital was material and of such a nature as would probably change the outcome of the trial cannot be doubted. It was of the utmost importance in this trial to ascertain exactly what the facts were with respect to any hospitalization occurring just before the trial and nearly a year after the accident, during which time plaintiff had never lost a day's time from his work and earned more money per month than before the accident. The importance of learning the true facts was due to the fact that plaintiff was claiming that he was permanently injured and was seeking damages in the sum of \$30,000.00 therefor. The importance to a jury of a plaintiff being compelled to submit to an extensive

hospitalization and medical treatment nearly a year after the accident cannot be overemphasized. Any reasonable man would be much more inclined to believe that the plaintiff's injuries were permanent if nearly a year after the accident he was compelled to enter a hospital where he was confined to his bed undergoing medical treatment, as plaintiff testified to, than if the true facts were made known, viz, that the plaintiff went to the hospital for a checkup a few days before the trial, was in the hospital for a period of six days, and was fully ambulatory during that time. Plaintiff's counsel considered it of great importance and the trial court in his order granting defendant's motion for a new trial stated that he was taking "*into consideration the emphasis that plaintiff's counsel put on the plaintiff's confinement for two weeks in the hospital.*" Whether it was intentional or otherwise is immaterial in a proceeding of this kind; the fact remains that the plaintiff himself falsified on this important matter at the first trial. He admitted he falsified by the so-called counter-affidavit filed in opposition to defendant's motion for a new trial. In his testimony at the second trial, as set forth in the statement of facts herein, he again admitted he falsified on this matter at the first trial. The injury and the injustice to the defendant is the same whether the false testimony was given intentionally or unintentionally. We further submit that the evidence was of such materiality that the trial court in the exercise of its discretion was warranted in assuming that it would probably change the outcome of another trial, and it may be that the fact that the outcome of the new trial was changed is some indication of the materiality of the evidence in question.

(c) The evidence which the defendant offered to show at a new trial, if granted, was not, as is contended by plaintiff's counsel, solely for the purpose of impeaching the plaintiff. It of course would necessarily have the effect of impeaching the plaintiff but it had the other characteristic of substantive evidence on a material matter. At the second trial the very thing defendant's counsel said he would prove, if given a new trial, was proved and it was proved out of the mouth of the plaintiff himself upon his direct examination by his counsel. (See Statement of Facts, *supra*.)

We concede the general rules with relation to motions for new trials cited by counsel, *viz*, that a new trial should not be granted on the grounds of newly discovered evidence if such evidence merely goes to impeach a witness, and that a new trial should not be granted in the exercise of a sound discretion unless there is some reasonable basis for supposing that the newly discovered evidence will change the outcome. But the newly discovered evidence in this case was substantive evidence upon a material point in addition to being impeaching evidence. At the second trial, anticipating counsel for the defendant would be prepared to establish the true facts with relation to the plaintiff's hospitalization, plaintiff's counsel brought out the facts as a part of his main case during his direct examination of the plaintiff. We do not see how he can now contend that the evidence was merely impeaching evidence. We submit that the court under all the circumstances was acting well within its discretion in holding that the defendant's counsel had not been guilty of lack of due diligence; that the evidence

was material and such as would probably alter the outcome of another trial.

It appears from all the evidence in the case that the plaintiff lost a total of 50 days on account of this accident, 44 days immediately following the accident in 1947, and 6 days the latter part of May, 1948. The jury awarded him \$500.00 special damages, which was substantially in excess of what he lost in wages in accordance with the true facts. At the second trial Marshall testified on cross as follows:

Q. And then you were an out patient for an additional time and the total time was 44 days?

A. Yes.

Q. And you didn't draw any money during that time?

A. I did not.

Q. How much would your wages amount to for that period?

A. 44 days. \$350.00

An additional six days time would not bring his lost wages up to as much as \$400.00. In view of the nature of the injury plaintiff actually suffered and the time he lost, the trial court undoubtedly considered that awarding the plaintiff general damages in the sum of \$8,000.00 was excessive and was perhaps greatly influenced by the fact that the jury most likely considered the plaintiff to have rather serious permanent injuries because of their belief that he was in a hospital flat on his back for two weeks nearly a year after the accident. Under the circumstances,

it is easy to believe that the trial judge felt that he could not effect justice in the case by reducing the verdict inasmuch as the entire case was tainted and affected by the false testimony given.

It was a matter largely within the discretion of the trial court as to whether or not he would grant a new trial in this case. It is now for this court simply a question of law as to whether or not the trial court abused that discretion and the burden is upon the appellant in this case to clearly establish that the trial court did abuse its discretion. This court has on several recent occasions had this question before it for review. In the case of *Moser v. Zion's Co-op. Mercantile Inst.*, — Utah —, 197 P. (2) 136, Mr. Justice Wolfe reviewed most of the early Utah cases treating the subject and said:

“It is a matter now too well settled to admit of any serious dispute that the question of granting or denying a motion for new trial is a matter largely within the discretion of the trial court. *White v. Union Pacific Railroad Co.*, 8 Utah 56, 29 P. 1030; *Van Dyke v. Ogden Savings Bank*, 48 Utah 606, 161 P. 50; *Utah State National Bank v. Livingston*, 69 Utah 284, 254 P. 781; *Thompson v. Bown Live Stock Co.*, 74 Utah 1, 276 P. 651; *Jensen v. Logan City*, 89 Utah 347, 57 P. 2d 708. This rule applies whether the motion is based upon insufficiency of the evidence *or upon newly discovered evidence*. See cases above cited and *Valiotis v. Utah-Apex Mining Co.*, 55 Utah 151, 184 P. 802; *Greco v. Gentile*, 88 Utah 255, 53 P. 2d 1155; and *Trimble v. Union Pacific Stages*, 105 Utah 457, 142 P. 2d 674. This court cannot substitute its discretion for that of the trial court. *James v. Robertson*, 39 Utah 414, 117 P. 1068, 2 N. C. C. A. 782. We do not ordinarily

interfere with rulings of the trial court in either granting or denying a motion for new trial, and unless abuse of, or failure to exercise, discretion on the part of the trial judge is quite clearly shown, the ruling of the trial judge will be sustained. *Lehi Irrigation Co. v. Moyle, et al.*, 4 Utah 327, 9 P. 867; *White v. Union Pacific Ry. Co.*, supra; *Utah State Bank v. Livingston*, supra; *Clark v. Los Angeles & S. L. R. Co.*, 73 Utah 486, 275 P. 582; and *Trimble v. Union Pacific Stages*, supra. See also *Harrison v. Sutter St. Ry. Co.*, 116 Cal. 156, 161, 47 P. 1019, 1020."

The Moser case was followed later by *State v. Cooper*, — Utah —, 201 P. (2) 764, without additional discussion of the question.

The latest decision of this court upon the matter is the case of *Dwight L. King, Administrator of the Estate of Wendell O. Jorgensen, Deceased, v. Union Pacific Railroad Company*, decided as recently as December 13, 1949, in which the general principles relating to the granting of new trials was again reviewed by Mr. Justice Wolfe. Any further research or discussion of the law applicable to the question here involved would be superfluous.

POINT II

NO PREJUDICIAL ERROR WAS COMMITTED IN GRANTING DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 7 IN VIEW OF THE EVIDENCE IN THE CASE.

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